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THE ACCIDENTAL PIONEER: 
 

CAPT. JIM McMULLEN AND THE TAMING OF THE PINELLAS 
PENINSULA 

 
By Donald J. Ivey 

 

Set amidst the urbanized hub-bub of Pinellas 
County sits a small four-room log cabin on 
the grounds of Heritage Village, the Pinellas 
County Historical Museum in Largo. That 
cabin, built in 1852, is one of the last 
reminders of an earlier, simpler era in the 
history of the Bay area, when the pine and 
palmetto hammocks had not yet been tamed 
by man. 

 
The builder of the cabin, James P. "Capt. 
Jim" McMullen, was one of the earliest 
settlers in the Tampa Bay area, and though 
long known for his achievements, the full 
extent of his contributions to the 
development of our area are little 
understood. Like many of our early 
pioneers, some portions of his life have been 
recounted in detail, while others have been 
ignored completely. This article will attempt 
to provide a comprehensive recounting of 
what is known of Capt. Jim’s life. And what 
is known is quite remarkable indeed. 
 
The odyssey of James Parramore 
(sometimes spelled Paramore) McMullen 
began on a rural farm in Telfair County, 
Georgia on June 11, 1823. He was the sixth 
child and the third son of the 12 children of 
James McMullen, Jr. and his wife Rebecca 
(Fain) McMullen. 
 
According to family legend, the McMullens 
originally came from Scotland to Halifax, 
Nova Scotia about 1775 and drifted south 
into North Carolina. James’ paternal 
grandfather (also named James), is said to 
have served as a drummer boy in 
Granberry’s Company of North Carolina 
Militia during the American Revolution. 
Family tradition also holds that he saw 
action at the Battles of Lexington and 
Bunker Hill. After the war, he settled in 
Burke (now Bulloch) County, Georgia, 
where he established a large plantation 
which he named "Halifax." 
 

James P. "Capt. Jim" McMullen, 1823-1895. 
Curiously, there are only two known images of 
Capt. Jim in existence, and this (along with the 
portrait of the seven brothers) is one of them. 
This sketch by Bay View resident Mary Faith 
Lame was taken from an early copper plate 
portrait of McMullen. 

--Courtesy Heritage Village



James’ mother’s family, the Fains, also came 
from Scotland originally. Like the 
McMullens, Rebecca’s father Thomas Fain 
settled in Georgia and served as a soldier in 
the Revolutionary Army. 
 
James was named after both his father and 
grandfather. His middle name was his 
maternal grandmother’s maiden name, and 
as the third son James was, according to 
Scottish legend, believed to be exceptionally 
blessed.1 
 
About the year 1827, James’ father (James 
Jr.) moved his growing family to the 
Talloaks area of Lowndes County, near the 
town of Quitman, Georgia and settled in that 
portion of the county which became Brooks 
County in 1858. There, he established a 
prosperous farm in the hardscrabble 
backcountry of south Georgia — no mean 
feat in those days — and young James no 
doubt spent a considerable amount of his 
time doing chores along with the rest of his 
brothers and sisters, while learning to hunt, 
fish, ride a horse and tend crops and 
livestock as well. Little precise information 
is known about his early childhood and 
education, but according to his grand-
daughter, Nancy McMullen Meador, "James 
P. McMullen did not have a great deal of 
higher education but he educated himself by 
reading, study and experience. His favorite 
authors were Shakespeare and Dickens."2 
 
This rather placid existence went on until 
probably sometime in the spring of 1842, 
when at the age of 18, James suddenly fell 
ill with "consumption," now known as the 
respiratory disease tuberculosis. At that time 
the disease was frequently fatal, so to avoid 
infecting the rest of the McMullen family, 
James was sent away to recuperate. 
 
Taking little more than his horse, dog, 
bedroll, gun and "bullet- molds and 

powder," James ventured south into the 
Florida Territory. He eventually came to 
Rocky Point, located between Clearwater 
and Tampa. At some point, he also acquired 
a sailboat, which he took on excursions all 
over the Tampa Bay area, soaking in the 
fresh air and sunshine. On one of these 
excursions, he crossed the Bay and came 
upon a high bluff which formed a lasting 
impression on him. This would later become 
the settlement of Bay View in present-day 
Pinellas County. 
 
At that time still a part of Hillsborough 
County, the Pinellas peninsula (then known 
as "West Hillsborough") was little more than 
raw unsettled back-country, inhabited by 
Indians and only a handful of settlers. 
Around 1830, Odet Philippe had arrived and 
became the first permanent European settler, 
establishing a homestead near Safety 
Harbor. But by 1840, there were still only a 
few families on the peninsula, hardy souls 
who lived primitively at best. But where 
many only saw empty wilderness, 
McMullen found opportunity, and he was 
quickly captivated by the vast potential of 
the area. In his wanderings, McMullen 
would come to spend considerable amount 
of time in Pinellas, camping out and living, 
as one source states, "virtually like a 
hermit," seeing no other human beings ex-
cept for some Indians.3 
 
After almost a year, McMullen recovered 
from his illness and headed back to Quitman 
to rejoin his family. On the way back north, 
he stopped at the pioneer settlement of 
Melendez in Hernando (which from 1844 to 
1850 was known as Benton) County. There 
he met Elizabeth Campbell, 18, the daughter 
of the late John Campbell, who died fighting 
the Seminoles in 1838, and his wife Nancy 
(Taylor) Campbell. Like the McMullens, the 
Campbells had originally come from 
Scotland. In the 1790s, they had settled in 



South Carolina, and eventually they drifted 
south into Georgia and in 1826 moved to 
Florida, where they took up residence at 
Melendez.4 
 
With the keen eye of a born entrepreneur, 
McMullen had clearly sensed the future 
potential of the Pinellas peninsula, and on 
his return to Georgia, he told his six brothers 
about his experiences in the Tampa Bay 
area, which he called "the closest thing to 
heaven that he could imagine."5 
 
Evidently, even at this young age, 
McMullen was a man of unusual energy, 

enterprise and daring. Son Birt McMullen 
later recalled that "Pa [the name that all of 
the McMullen clan affectionately gave to 
Capt. Jim] . . . had many enterprises, which 
he worked at with all the zest and energy 
possible, never saying ’You must do so and 
so,' but ‘come on boys, let's get this thing 
done,' and worked right along with them."6 
 
By 1844, James McMullen had returned to 
Florida, and on December 26th, after a 
courtship largely conducted by 
correspondence, he married Elizabeth 
Campbell, at the Campbell family's 
homestead near present-day Brooksville. 

The McMullen log cabin (top), built by Capt. Jim about 1852 approximately two miles northeast 
of Clearwater. After Capt. Jim’s death in 1895, the cabin and surrounding property were 
acquired by the Coachman family, who grew citrus in the area and subsequently used the cabin 
as a logo on their orange crates (bottom). Although the cabin was badly damaged in an arson 
attack in 1976, it was moved to Heritage Village in Largo in 1977, where it was renovated, 
restored and reopened to the public. There, as the oldest existing structure in the county, it 
remains as a popular attraction. 

      — Courtesy Heritage Village - Pinellas County 
Historical Museum, Largo, Florida

 



Like her husband, Elizabeth was evidently a 
woman of considerable strength and energy. 
Altogether she and James would have 11 
children. She would also act as a midwife to 
the local women in the area and planted and 
tended much of the family’s crops during 
their many years together in the wilderness. 
As their youngest son Ward recalled years 
later, each child "was taught to mind and as 
each one grew older, they would help with 
the younger ones and they all had chores to 
do."7 
 
For the next four years, McMullen was in 
Benton County. There, he had established a 

small farm, probably near his 
mother-in-law’s homestead at Melendez 
where he bided his time, waiting for the 
right moment to strike out on his own. 
Finally, probably in the late spring of 1848, 
he returned with his wife and two children to 
the Pinellas peninsula, and homesteaded 240 
acres near what is now Northeast Coachman 
Road and State Road 590A. There, he built a 
log cabin and began farming the land, which 
at that time was little more than virgin pine 
forest. But in time the presence of hostile 
Indians and the isolation of living in such a 
remote wilderness forced them to return to 
Benton County. Shortly after they left, the 



local Indians are said to have set fire to their 
cabin, destroying it. Also, according to 
McMullen’s youngest son Ward, McMullen 
was caught in the great storm of this year, 
which devastated Pinellas and caused heavy 
damage from winds and high water all along 
Florida’s west coast. "The Great Gale of ’48" 
blew away part of a big Indian mound be-
hind which he and his friend "Uncle Dick" 
Booth (one of the earliest settlers on the 
peninsula and son-in-law of Odet Philippe) 
had taken cover near their camp by a spring 
in Safety Harbor. This experience, according 
to Ward, convinced McMullen that inland 
residence was best.8 
 
This failure did not, however, deter him. 
Sometime after early December in 1850 it is 
believed that James moved the family back 
south to Pinellas to make a second go of 
settling there. Returning to their original 
homestead, he built a second log cabin 
house in the area that later became known as 
Coachman Station, near Clearwater. Con-
structed of heart pine, the double pen log 
cabin contained four rooms and had a 
second story, unusual for cabins of that 
period. With a central breezeway and large 
cracks between the log sides, it was built to 
give plenty of fresh air, something the 
tubercular McMullen was particularly in-
sistent upon. He is reported to have said, "I 
wouldn’t give anything for a house that 
didn’t have cracks wide enough to throw a 
cat through." 
 
A simple home, with most of the furniture 
made by hand (including the beds, with 
mattresses made of stuffed corn shucks or 
Spanish moss), the McMullen homestead 
nonetheless became a popular meeting place 
for local residents. The McMullens were 
known as great hosts, and being on the road 
from Anona, Clearwater and all points to 
Tampa, their home became a popular 
stop-over for anyone going to attend 

business across the Bay. Ministers, for 
example, would often come to the area to 
hold conferences and would stay over with 
the family. Ward McMullen later recalled 
that "I have seen as many as eleven 
Preachers eating dinner at my father’s table 
in one day." In time, other outbuildings were 
also added and included a sugar house, 
where corn syrup and sugar were made and 
stored.9 
 
At the time, cattle raising, subsistence 
farming and fishing were the chief industries 
on the peninsula. With no trading posts, 
stores or other established businesses, resi-
dents of the area had to be self-sufficient. 
Roads consisted of sand trails winding 
through untouched pine forest, and the 
principal money in circulation was the 
Spanish gold doubloon, obtained from 
selling cattle in Cuba. It was hard living and 
to be successful, an individual had to 
possess a real pioneering spirit.10 
 
This the McMullens had in abundance and 
by 1852 James was joined on the peninsula 
by his younger brother Daniel, who moved 
to the Largo area and homesteaded 160 
acres near what is now Rosery Road and 
Missouri Avenue. The first of James’ 
brothers to join him in Pinellas Daniel also 
joined with his brother in the cattle business 
which both began to pursue at this time with 
a good degree of success. Another brother, 
John Fain McMullen also joined them on the 
peninsula, probably also during this year. He 
settled in Anona south of Clearwater Bay, 
near present-day Indian Rocks and Wilcox 
Roads. Like his brothers, cattle and citrus 
would become his chief interests. He would 
stay until 1857 when he moved to Madison 
County in North Florida. In 1871, he 
returned to Pinellas and settled in what is 
now the Lealman area of St. Petersburg, but 
soon after left for Perry in Taylor County, 
where he died in 1895.11 



 
Although the day-to-day struggle to survive 
remained paramount, McMullen was 
actively involved in the area’s community 
affairs from the very beginning. In 
particular, he seems to have taken a great 
interest in education. In 1853, with no 
schools on the peninsula, McMullen estab-
lished a log cabin schoolhouse for local 
children in the area, using the second floor 
of his sugar house. The McMullens took in 
approximately 30 children for common 
schooling at this school and supplied room 
and board for them while school was in 
session. McMullen acquired a teacher for 
the children from up north, and paid her 
salary himself — making this the first 
organized school on the Pinellas peninsula. 

Over the course of the years, the McMullens 
were also said to have taken in nearly 25 
orphaned children in the area into their 
home, raising them along with their own 
children. Later, according to Nancy Meador, 
when the sugar house "was not large enough 
to take care of the children who wanted to 
go to school . . . Pa got his brother John Tom 
and Dick Booth to help him and together 
they built a one-room log schoolhouse" 
about two miles southeast of Clearwater. 
According to Meador, the school was named 
Sylvan Abbey because "Pa said the first girl 
that went to school there should be honored 
by having the school named for her. The 
teacher's name was Mrs. Abbey and her 
daughter's name was Sylvan so he named 
the school Sylvan Abbey." By 1884, this 

The seven McMullen brothers of Pinellas. Back row standing, from left to right: John Fain, David 
and Malcolm Lawrence. Front row seated, left to right: William, Thomas Fain, James Parramore 
(Capt. Jim), and Daniel. This now famous photograph was taken by C. W. Motes at the Atlanta 
International Cotton Exposition in 1881. 

 — Courtesy Heritage Village

 



schoolhouse was no longer adequate to 
accommodate the growing needs of the 
community, so McMullen built a third, 
larger schoolhouse near present-day Sylvan 
Abbey Cemetery, between Clearwater and 
Safety Harbor. Years later, McMullen’s 
daughter Sally would often recall fondly of 
her education in these early area schools that 
"it was a hard task to study when they 
wanted to watch the little bears playing 
about in the trees nearby."12 
 

At the same time, McMullen also became 
deeply involved in local politics. In October 
of 1853 he was elected as a Whig to serve as 
a member of the Hillsborough County 
Commission. According to historian John 
Solomon Otto, by this time McMullen was 
known as a prominent "backcountry" 
cowman, and as such he was no doubt 
elected to represent their interests on the 
Board. Two years later, he served as one of 
the founders of Hillsborough County’s 
American Party, which held a convention in 
Tampa on September 15, 1855. The 
"Know-Nothing" Party (so-called because of 
their secretiveness and the reply of their 
members to queries of non-members, "I 
know nothing") endorsed a platform 
supporting a legal constitutional solution to 
the question of slavery within the Union, 
along with positions that were strongly 
anti-Catholic and anti-immigrant. 
McMullen, who himself was endorsed on 
the Know-Nothing ticket for a second term 
on the County Commission, subsequently 
went down in defeat with the rest of his 
party’s slate of county candidates in the 
October 1855 elections.13 
 
When news of the attacks which precipitated 
the start of the Third Seminole War reached 
the Tampa Bay area early the next year, 
McMullen was one of the first men to enlist 
in the Army as a volunteer, serving as a 
private in Capt. William B. Hooker’s 
Company of Florida Mounted Volunteers, 
which on January 3rd, was mustered into 
service and ordered to protect the Florida 
frontier against the Seminoles. Seven weeks 
later he was mustered out of the service at 
Fort Meade, after probably spending the 
duration of his service on garrison or patrol 
duty in or near Fort Meade, and most 
probably never saw combat. At the ex-
piration of his term of service, he returned to 
his family on the Pinellas peninsula, where 
he resumed farming and raising cattle.14 

Two 1869 advertisements which appeared in 
Tampa’s Florida Peninsular newspaper 
announcing several of Capt. Jim’s numerous 
business ventures. Note the misspelling of his 
last name as "McMullin." 

— Tampa Florida Peninsular, 
August 25, 1869

 



 
His service in the war apparently had no 
effect on his relations with the local Indians. 
As his son Birt later recalled: "I do 
remember him telling about staying all night 
with the Indians, just outside of Fort Myers 
— how he ate out of the same bowl with 
them and smoked the pipe of peace. They 
loved him and called him the 'Big Chief.’"15 
 
After the war, he was elected to a second 
term on the Hillsborough County 
Commission in 1859, and was one of the last 
men to serve on the Board before the 
coming of the Civil War. Then, in the 
following year, he was elected Major of the 
20th Regiment of the Florida Militia.16 
 
But as the clouds of war began to loom 
larger on the horizon, McMullen found 
himself increasingly out of step with the 
local populace. When the Florida Secession 

Convention convened in Tallahassee on 
January 3, 1861 to consider seceding the 
state from the Union, the news was gen-
erally greeted with enthusiasm in the Tampa 
Bay area. But in contrast, McMullen was, 
according to Florida historian George M. 
Chapin, so "strongly opposed to secession 
and announced his views so unmistakably 
that he became unpopular with his fellow 
citizens" in the area. However, when Florida 
finally did secede on January 10th, 
McMullen, according to Chapin, "felt that 
he must remain with his loved southland" 
and thus chose to remain and support his 
adopted state.17 
 
As the war progressed, the McMullens and 
other neighboring families on the peninsula 
were forced to flee to an encampment at Fort 
Bone in Keystone Park near Safety Harbor 
for protection from Federal raiding parties 
and Confederate deserters. While the men 

Workers in Capt. Jim’s citrus groves, circa 1895. McMullen’s log cabin can be seen in the 
background, at left. 

— Courtesy Heritage Village

 



served the Confederacy, the women took 
turns guarding the makeshift fort built on the 
site. They also planted gardens and raised 
sweet potatoes, sugar cane, cows and hogs 
to help them get through the increasing 
hardships caused by the war, and the 
blockade. James McMullen’s youngest 
daughter Lucy, who was born at Keystone, 
later recalled how her mother "walked all 
night around and inside of the fort with a 
loaded gun on her shoulder".18 
 
During the spring or summer of 1861, 
McMullen began organizing a company of 
60 men to protect against Federal incursions 
onto the Pinellas peninsula. Nicknamed the 
"Clearwater Guards," most of the company 
consisted of men from some of the first 
families to settle in Pinellas. On July 20, 
1861, the Guards were mustered into the 
service of the Florida State Militia by order 
of Brigadier General Joseph M. Taylor with 
McMullen as Captain. The company was 
stationed at Clearwater Harbor. In forming 
the company McMullen, never a great 
believer in the Confederate cause, was 
probably less motivated by patriotism than 
by a desire to protect his property and family 
from raiding and looting.19 
 

Within a month however, McMullen and his 
men became embroiled in controversy. On 
August 15th a group of 35 citizens from 
Clearwater Harbor "and vicinity" signed a 
petition addressed to Florida Gov. Madison 
S. Perry, which outlined a long list of 
grievances against the local military 
authorities in the area. Among other com-
plaints, they cited the fact that Gen. Taylor 
"has appointed a Captain or Commander 
over the troops raised here [McMullen], 
against the wishes of a large majority of the 
men." Further, they complained about the 
lack of protection provided Clearwater 
Harbor and stated that "many of the men 
[the Clearwater Guards] are without arms 
and are nearly all without suitable 
ammunition . . . we . . . do not feel safe 
under existing circumstances. . . .”20 
 
On October 20th, at the expiration of their 
three months term of enlistment, the 
company was mustered out of service. Many 
of the members of the command then went 
on to join other units in the Confederate 
Army, some eventually serving in units as 
far away as Tennessee and Kentucky. 
McMullen, however, returned to civilian life 
to care for his crops and livestock, but ever 
afterwards, he was always known by the 
nickname "Capt. Jim," from this military 
service.21 
 
But McMullen could not escape the war 
entirely. The tightening of the Federal naval 
blockade on the South, combined with 
increasing lawlessness in the Tampa Bay 
area brought severe hardship on area 
residents. Bands of looters and deserters 
roamed freely, robbing, stealing and 
inflicting damage wherever they went. 
According to Ward McMullen, his father 
"hated the deserters more than he did the 
Yankees" because of all the damage they 
caused. The problem of making a living was 
becoming increasingly a matter of concern 

This is the earliest surviving photograph of a 
McMullen family reunion, showing Capt. Jim’s 
family on the steps of the old Bay View Hotel, 
circa 1897. This is also the only known photo 
of the Hotel, which was razed in 1901. 

— Courtesy Heritage Village

 



for McMullen as well. Initially, he helped 
run cattle for the Confederacy to the starving 
armies fighting in the north. But Federal 
incursions into Florida were severely 
disrupting this vital lifeline until finally, in 
1864, Confederate authorities were forced to 
act. A special unit known as the 1st 
Battalion of Florida Special Cavalry was 
formed to protect Confederate cattle supply 
operations to the north. Known as the "Cow 
Cavalry," this unit also served to protect 
local areas from raids by Federals and 
marauders alike.22 
 
On September 4, 1863, McMullen had 
enlisted as a private in Capt. John McNeill’s 
Independent Company of Florida Infantry at 
Brooksville, for a period of three years or 
for the duration of the war. Several weeks 
later, on September 19, Capt. Jim’s brother 
Daniel also enlisted in the same company. 
Shortly afterwards, Capt. Jim was detached 
from this unit and transferred to Capt. 
William B. Watson’s Company (Company 
D) in the Cow Cavalry. With Capt. Jim also 
was his eldest son Bethel, now 17, and his 
brother Daniel, both of whom were 
transferred into the Cow Cavalry, due to 
their skills as cowmen. 
 
In the Cow Cavalry, McMullen was 
assigned to lead cattle drives due to his 
experience on the frontier handling cattle 
before the war. For the remainder of the war, 
he led these drives to help supply 
desperately needed beef, tallow and hides to 
the battered Confederate armies to the north. 
Often these drives would go to Charleston 
and Savannah and would last as long as six 
weeks. A typical drive was described by one 
Confederate "cowboy soldier": 
 

A detail of six men, under the command 
of Mr. James P. McMullen, was ordered 
to the cattle pens at Fort Meade to take 
charge of a herd of 365 beef cattle bound 

for Savannah. Early one morning the 
drive was commenced. The course was a 
northerly one, and in line with Orange 
lake in Marion County. The cattle were 
driven along at a "grazing rate" of speed, 
usually averaging around eight and one 
half miles a day. At night, if we were 
fortunate, we would reach a cattle pen, 
and here the beeves would be corralled 
until morning. With the coming of day, 
the drive was started again, the cattle 
slowly grazing over the country-side at a 
pace set by the animals themselves. 

 
When we reached Orange Lake, the 
cattle were driven into one of the regular 
stopping pens. It was a good place to bed 
down, covering about four acres and 
hemmed up a rail fence 10 to 12 rails 
high. The "cowboy-soldiers," feeling 
that their herd was safe for the night, 
made camp about fifty feet in front of 
the gate and there lay down to sleep. But 
late that night, the cattle became 
frightened and stampeded right out of 
those pens onto the prairie. But fortunate 
for us, the melling of the beeves before 
they actually busted out woke us up 

Dr. Bethel McMullen 
1845-1940 



giving us all a chance to saddle up. We 
followed them about a mile, and before 
long they held up in a large swamp 
about a hundred yards from an old 
plantation house. A fence around the 
area had helped to direct them into 
swamp. When the cattle seemed ready to 
bed down again, we decided the pen was 
too far away to move them, so we built 
some large bonfires about 50 feet apart, 
hoping that would keep the restless 
beeves there for the rest of the night. But 
the next morning when we got up, there 
wasn’t a cow in sight. Sometime during 
the early morning one of the leaders had 
evidently scented water and had led the 
rest of ’em through a space little more 
than 30 feet wide. All were found a mile 
or two away, placidly chewing their cuds 
at a bend in Orange Creek. Such was the 
perversity of the beast. 

 
From Orange Lake we continued our 
drive to the state line crossing the St. 
Marys River near the ferry at Traiders 
Hill. All was uneventful until the herd 
came to the fording of the Altamaha 

River some miles northwest of 
Brunswick, Georgia. Here a crowd of 
several hundred people had gathered to 
see us cross at a point where the river 
was less than a fourth of a mile wide. All 
went well until two steers swam too far 
downstream and found themselves on 
the far side of the old flat, below the 
landing. They drowned. They were 
pulled ashore by ropes, and enough meat 
was butchered from one to supply the 
drovers for two or three days. The crowd 
collected by the river was then told that 
they could have the rest. Within the hour 
not one horn, hoof or tail remained of 
the beasts. It shows you how hungry 
folks were then. From there we drove 
the cattle on to Savannah where they 
were delivered. Three hundred and 
sixty-two head out of the original herd of 
365 had made it. Besides, the two that 
were drowned, one as also lost 
somewhere between Fort Meade and 
Savannah. The herd was actually in far 
better condition than when they left their Sarah Jane (McMullen) Hackney Belcher, 

1850-1929 
— From Pioneer Florida

by D. B. McKay

 

William A. Belcher, 1846-1935 
 — From Pioneer Florida by D. B. McKay

 



prairie home in Florida five weeks 
earlier.23 

 
The end of the war found McMullen a 2nd 
Lieutenant in Company D of the Cow 
Cavalry. After probably being paroled by 
U.S. forces in May or June of 1865, Capt. 
Jim returned to his home and family in 
Pinellas, and came back to an area shattered 
by war, neglect and looting. Many homes 
had been ransacked by Federal troops and 
Southern marauders alike. "When the Capt. 
Jim McMullen family returned to their 
home," according to local historian Gladys 
Booth Tucker, "Bethel, then a 16 year old 
boy [actually, he was 19], was delighted to 
find some syrup that he had hidden in a deep 

hole, in jugs and bottles, of course," — 
apparently one of the few remaining items in  
 
 
the house that had been successfully kept 
hidden from the looters.24 
 
As was the case elsewhere throughout the 
South, the end of the war brought hard times 
to the Bay area, but instead of giving up on 
the primitive life on the peninsula, the 
McMullens seemed to thrive there. In 1866, 
a fourth McMullen brother, David, moved to 
the Pinellas area and settled on Morse Hill in 
Safety Harbor. David stayed only a few 
years, and eventually moved his family to 
Lakeland. Then, in 1868, (or perhaps as 
early as 1865), Capt. Jim's older brother 
Thomas Fain moved his family to Pinellas 
and settled about one mile west of Safety 
Harbor, at a location formerly known as 
Davey Place, which was directly adjacent to 
his brother David's property. There, he built 
a large log cabin (which stood on the site 
until the 1970s) and raised vegetables, 
cotton and cattle until his death in 1888. 
Also about this same time the eldest 
McMullen brother, William, came and 
settled four miles south of Largo near Ridge 
Road, where he farmed and raised cattle. He 
is also purported to have developed the first 
commercial saltworks on the peninsula. He 
later moved to Polk County, where he lived 
between Lakeland and Mulberry for about 
17 years. Then in the early 1890s he 
returned to Largo to live with his son 
Daniel. William died in 1898 at the age of 
72, and is buried in Lone Pilgrim Cemetery 
in Largo, just south of his original 
homestead. And finally, Capt. Jim's 
youngest brother Malcolm also came to the 
area, settling about 1871 on a homestead 
about one mile southeast of Daniel's 
property, near present-day Belcher Road and 
East Bay Drive in Largo. The last of the 
seven brothers to come to the peninsula, he 

Confederate reenactors at the grave of Capt. 
James P McMullen in the McMullen Cemetery 
near Clarwater. 

— Tampa Tribune

 



outlived them all, dying in 1909 at the age of 
69.25 
 
The year of 1868 also saw Capt. Jim re-enter 
the local political arena. On December 2nd 
of the year he was chosen as one of three 
delegates from Old Tampa to the 
Democratic convention at Brooksville to 
nominate a candidate for the State Senate 
from the 22nd District. Apparently disgusted 
by the excesses of the carpetbaggers, Capt. 
Jim switched his allegiance to the 
Democrats after the war and according to 
Chapin, "continuously supported the 
democratic party, which elected him to 
various offices of trust."26 
 
By 1869, he also began to recover from the 
economic effects of the war. Capt. Jim’s 
prescription for economic recovery was to 
diversify his business interests to cover a 
broad range of ventures that appealed to his 
considerable energies. For example, the 
August 25, 1869 edition of Tampa’s Florida 
Peninsular carried two advertisements for 
McMullen-owned enterprises. The first 
announced "Florida brick! A splendid article 
of Brick is now being made at my yard on 
Old Tampa and for sale in any quantity. The 
Brick made at this Yard are as good as can 
be bought in any market- Samples can be 
seen at Grant & Crafts store, Price per M. 
[thousand] $15.00." A second advertisement 
in the same issue also stated that Capt. Jim 
"is now having made at his Shop at Turkey 
Hammock, 12 miles West of Tampa, 
[Cypress] Syrup Barrels of superior quality, 
which he will sell at $2.50 per barrel at the 
shop or $3.00 delivered at Tampa" as well as 
"a fine lot of fish barrels, made expressly for 
the South Florida fisheries. Price $2.00 per 
barrel at the Shop."27 
 
Evidence of his economic recovery during 
the post-war years may perhaps best be 
illustrated by an article which appeared in 

the first edition of the Clear Water Times on 
July 12, 1873. In it, an editorial paid tribute 
to Capt. Jim, noting that: "One of the first 
settlers in this neighborhood, came here an 
invalid, supposed to be fast verging on a 
state of incurable consumption. He is now 
— and has been for years past — one of the 
most healthy and active business men in the 
country. He has more irons in the fire — 
without letting any of them burn — rides 
more, and endures more fatigue, than any 
other man in the community, and never 
shows any signs of flagging health or 
energy."28 
 
Two weeks later, a second article in the 
Times announced that "Capt. James 
McMullen passed through this county last 
week with 1,200 head of cattle enroute to 
Punta Rassa. They were purchased in the 
counties of Levy, Taylor and Lafayette. 
Several hundred were lost in crossing the 
Suwanee River . . . The Capt. McMullen, 
mentioned above, is our neighbor, the 
recuperated invalid of whom mention is 
made in our first number and we will 
guarantee that he has more activity and is 
more fertile in resources than to lose that 
number of cattle in crossing the largest 
stream in Florida."29 
 
Then followed Capt. Jim's greatest and most 
ambitious project: the creation of his own 
community. 
 
In 1874, after acquiring much of the 
surrounding land at 25 cents an acre, Capt. 
Jim founded the community of Bay View, 
just east of Clearwater Harbor at the spot he 
had admired more than 30 years before. As 
Nancy Meador tells it, the area was first 
known as "Eagles Nest" because "there was 
a huge pine with a mammoth eagle's nest 
high in its top branches. It stood as a sentinel 
keeping watch over the harbor." Later, it 
was renamed "Swimming Pen," due to the 



fact that with its naturally deep harbor and 
its close proximity to Tampa, it was an ideal 
location to load cattle onto boats for market. 
At that time, it was common for the locals to 
herd their cattle down through the middle of 
the settlement to Clearwater Bay. There, 
they would be penned in the water and 
forced to swim out to boats waiting offshore, 
where they would be hoisted aboard and 
taken to market in Tampa. Then, when Capt. 
Jim established his settlement there, the 
name was changed to Bay View (probably 
by Capt. Jim, who no doubt realized that a 
more attractive name would entice more 
settlers). 
 
At Bay View, Capt. Jim vigorously made 
new improvements. Two stores were built 
there, one of which was managed by Capt. 
Jim’s son Dan and the other by John C. 
White, who later served as Hillsborough 
County Judge. In order to encourage further 
settlement in the area, Capt. Jim also built a 
wharf to accommodate steamboats, and gave 
one or two acres of his own land to 
newcomers. Capt. Jim’s son Bethel was the 
first to build a frame house in the com-
munity that same year. Purportedly, it was 
made from lumber that came from an old 
home in Cedar Key. The home was 
dismantled, made into a raft and barged 
down to Bay View, where it was 
reconstructed as Bethel’s new home.30 
 
The following year, on July 13, 1875, Bay 
View opened its own Post Office, with Capt. 
Jim as the settlement’s first Postmaster. 
According to Nancy Meador, "The mail 
came across the bay by boat and people 
from all over upper Pinellas . . . came here 
for their mail."31 
 
That same year, Capt. Jim also led the way 
to establish a Masonic lodge on the 
peninsula. On August 14, 1875, a meeting 
was held in Bay View Hotel to charter a 

Masonic lodge for the Free & Accepted 
Masons in the area. In attendance were 11 of 
the leading members of the community, 
including Capt. Jim, his brothers John, 
Daniel, David, Thomas and his son Bethel. 
A charter for the Lodge was granted on 
January 13, 1876, and the meetings that 
followed were held upstairs at the hotel. 
Then, in 1889, the third floor of the hotel 
was converted into a lodge hall for the 
membership. Throughout these years Capt. 
Jim was an enthusiastic participant in all of 
the Lodge’s activities. In 1878, he served as 
Treasurer for the Lodge, and also served an 
additional 10 year term, from 1881 to 1891. 
(In 1899, the Lodge moved into new 
quarters in the Bay View School, then in 
1908 was moved to Largo. Today, as Star 
Lodge No. 78, F&AM, it is the oldest 
Masonic Lodge in Pinellas County.)32 
 
The year 1875 also marked a major 
milestone for Capt. Jim’s agricultural 
interests, for probably sometime during this 
year he converted his farm to a new cash 
crop, citrus. Odet Philippe first introduced 
citrus into the area in the 1830s, and 
Florida’s warm climate and sandy soil soon 
proved to be perfectly suited for raising the 
new crop. By the 1870s demand for the 
product in the north had created a strong 
market for citrus, and while many local 
farmers had been growing citrus for years, 
now they began to devote a greater portion 
of their lands to grow it. 
 
McMullen marketed his citrus in partnership 
with Gustave Axelson, who owned a small 
fleet of boats in Pensacola. Together, they 
would sail to Cedar Key and points as far 
west as Pensacola and Mobile to market the 
crop. If any fruit was left over after selling at 
these markets, he would "put it in sacks or 
cotton baskets and ship it by train on to 
Montgomery." A grandson, Robert D. (Bob) 
Belcher later recalled that "Pa was the only 



one who realized anything off his fruit in 
those early days. He was never a man to 
give up. He was a driving force, but always 
went along with the force, never expecting 
others to do things that he was not willing to 
have a part in." That Capt. Jim made a 
success of this new venture there can be 
little doubt, as evidenced by a notice which 
appeared in the January 4, 1879 issue of 
Tampa’s Sunland Tribune, which announced 
that "Capt. Jas. McMullen, of Old Tampa, 
near Bay View, was in town Tuesday and 
presented us an orange, weighing 16 1/2 
ounces."33 
 
But Capt. Jim was not merely content to 
simply grow citrus and make a profit. In 
1880, he made an important new 
contribution to the citrus industry in Florida. 
At the time, the only way to transport and 
market the crop was to load it into the hull 
of a boat or place it in barrels. Then it would 
be shipped to Cedar Key, put on a train and 
carried to markets in the North. Capt. Jim, 
however thought that there must be a better 
and more attractive way to market his 
produce. As a result, he designed the first 
orange crates in the state. According to 
Ward McMullen and Nancy Meador, he sent 
a "bunch of men in the woods and split 
three-foot boards and they used palmetto 
stems to fasten them down as wires." After 
he had perfected the crate, "he had the 
sawmill make the ends and he hewed the 
trees and split the sides himself." The next 
year, he marketed his citrus in Mobile, using 
the new crates, and he received $12.00 per 
crate, which son Bethel recalled "was 
mighty good money on those days." The 
crates quickly caught on with other growers, 
and helped make the fruit much more 
attractive to buyers in the North. The new 
cash crop prospered under Capt. Jim’s care, 
and by 1890, he is said to have had one of 
the largest groves in Hillsborough County.34 
 

Federal, state and local records for this 
period give us an interesting glimpse into 
the McMullen family at this time. U.S. 
census returns for Hillsborough County in 
1880 listed McMullen as residing in Precinct 
No. 3 with his wife, four of their youngest 
children, an "adopted" child, a laborer from 
New Jersey and a man by the name of "John 
Saunders," from Mexico. Saunders, also 
known as Juan Patrecia, was said to have 
been a young Mexican boy who had escaped 
from a vindictive step-mother in the 1840s. 
He became a stowaway on a boat headed for 
Cuba, but was caught and sold into slavery. 
After a few years he managed to steal a boat 
and get to Florida, where he changed his 
name to Saunders. He was also said to have 
been quite fond of Capt. Jim, "because the 
latter never made fun of his small size." For 
a time, he lived with the McMullens, 
helping in the garden and tending the 
chickens, and was affectionately known to 
them as "Uncle Johnnie." 
 
State census returns in 1885 also illustrate 
the degree of relative prosperity the family 
enjoyed during this period. Agricultural 
schedules for that year record Capt. Jim as 
owning 75 acres of tilled land, along with 
100 acres of woodland and forest. His farm 
is valued at $2,500, and the estimated value 
of all farm production for 1885 is given at 
$600. In addition, the family, is recorded as 
owning two horses, two mules, 36 milch 
cows, 10 pigs, 62 poultry birds and 40 other 
livestock. Hillsborough County tax rolls for 
1884 also show McMullen and his wife to 
have owned at least 457 acres of land valued 
at approximately $3,785 — all in all, a very 
prosperous homestead by the standards of 
that time and place.35 
 
The 1880s also ushered in another period of 
intense activity for McMullen. In October of 
1880, with the help of "Uncle Dick" Booth, 
McMullen began to cut a right of way from 



the head of Old Tampa Bay to Bay View. 
This, according to Nancy McMullen Meador 
was the first road on the peninsula that was 
built according to surveyor’s specifications. 
Originally named Haines Road, the name 
was later changed to McMullen-Booth Road 
by the Pinellas County Commission, to 
honor the two pioneers who built it.36 
 
The following month, 19 years after he had 
last served, Capt. Jim was elected to a third 
term on the Hillsborough County 
Commission. But once again, he lost a bid 
for reelection two years later, finishing a 
dismal eighth in a huge field of 25 
candidates. It would prove to be his last bid 
for public office, a service that seemed to 
appeal more to Capt. Jim as an avocation 
than as a means to power or ambition.37 
 
Educational pursuits also continued to 
interest McMullen. In 1882, Capt. Jim is 
said to have built a small log cabin 
schoolhouse at Bay View, to accommodate 
the growing demand for an educational 
facility in town. By 1889, a two-story frame 
building was built to replace this, with the 
upstairs serving as a Masonic meeting room 
and the downstairs serving as a large 
classroom.38 
 
By the mid-1880s, with the promise of the 
coming of the railroad to the area, Capt. Jim 
stepped up his development efforts in Bay 
View, and by 1885 had completed a second 
series of improvements, adding a large hotel 
to the settlement. The hotel (known as the 
Bay View Hotel) was a two-story, 20-room 
structure with open double-tiered galleries 
which overlooked Tampa Bay. A year later, 
a second wharf was added to handle the 
increasing steamboat traffic coming to the 
area. As Bethel McMullen recalled: 
“steam-boats came in once a week, bringing 
passengers and freight and carrying produce 
that was raised here back with them. Mr. 

Bill Henderson [W.B. Henderson, a promi-
nent Tampa merchant and banker] had a 
steamboat which ran regularly to Mobile. It 
carried interesting cargo from this vicinity, 
ranging from water-melons to gophers."39 
 
In making the improvements, McMullen 
clearly anticipated that Bay View would be 
a major stop on the railroad line into 
Pinellas. Therefore, he very early on became 
involved in efforts to bring a railroad onto 
the peninsula, as a notice which appeared in 
the January 1, 1887 edition of the Sea 
Breeze, published at Disston City (now 
Gulfport) reported that "A railroad meeting 
was held at Tarpon Springs, recently ... to 
solicit donations of land to the railroad." 
[The "railroad" is the proposed Orange Belt 
Railway, which eventually expanded its line 
from Oakland in North Central Florida into 
the Pinellas peninsula.] Capt. Jim attended 
the meeting, and was appointed to serve on a 
committee for township 29 (the Clearwater 
Harbor-Bay View area) to help solicit land 
donations. A month later, The Sea Breeze 
reported that representatives of the Orange 
Belt Railway "have spent two days with the 
people on the Point, inspiring considerable 
confidence that they mean business, and 
receiving some substantial guarantees in the 
way of help, in land donations."40 
 
But when the railroad finally did come to 
Pinellas in the spring of 1888, Bay View 
was bypassed entirely. Capt. Jim had 
thought that the Orange Belt would naturally 
come directly through Bay View, as this was 
the most direct route. But instead, the 
railway ran down the Gulf Coast into the 
newly-named settlement of St. Petersburg, 
and although completion of the railway 
proved to be of tremendous benefit to the 
Pinellas peninsula as a whole, it proved to 
be a devastating blow to McMullen's little 
settlement. By bypassing Bay View, it drew 
settlers and development away from the 



small community, which eventually spelled 
its doom. By 1900, Bay View had declined 
markedly, never to become the large 
commercial center which Capt. Jim had 
envisioned. Today, the remnants of the little 
community may still be seen, lying partly 
within the city limits of Clearwater, and 
partly within an unincorporated section of 
Pinellas County.41 
 
The following years were largely ones of 
sadness and disappointment for Capt. Jim. 
On December 17, 1890, Elizabeth Campbell 
McMullen, Capt. Jim’s wife of almost 46 
years, died at the age of 65, probably in the 
log house the family had built when first 
coming to the area. Then on December 27, 
1894, the first of a series of devastating 
freezes hit the state, which produced frost 
and froze citrus fruit right on the tree in 
most groves throughout Central and North 
Florida. In Tampa, temperatures as low as 
19 degrees Fahrenheit were recorded. Later, 
on February 7, 8 and 9, a second freeze hit, 
which killed countless numbers of young 
seedlings and older trees alike. The long-
term effects of the "Great Freeze of ’94-5" 
on the citrus industry and the economy in 
Florida would last for years. On the Pinellas 
Peninsula, although the damage was gen-
erally less severe (the warm waters of the 
Gulf of Mexico to the west and Tampa Bay 
to the east and the warm breezes they 
generated helped to protect the citrus crop 
somewhat), it still had an effect. The extent 
of the damage to Capt. Jim’s groves is not 
clear, but it must have taken its toll. At least 
some in his family however, appear to have 
come out of the freeze with relatively little 
damage to their crop. Capt. Jim’s son Birt 
was the luckiest local grower. At 
"Badwater" near Clearwater, where he 
owned a grove, the trees never froze at all. 
As Nancy Meador recalled, "Ordinarily 
citrus brought one dollar or a dollar and a 

half a crate; after the freeze he [Birt] got 
fifteen dollars a crate."42 
 
This setback presaged the end for Capt. Jim. 
On April 17, 1895, he died at his son 
Bethel’s home in Bay View at the age of 71. 
According to the Clearwater Press, "His 
death, though anticipated by himself and 
family for more than a year past, came 
suddenly, was peaceful and almost painless. 
He had been able to ride, and was carried to 
his son’s residence only two days previous to 
his death, having no more unfavorable 
symptoms than had been indicated for 
several months. A disease of the heart, 
which had caused his long suffering, was the 
cause of his death," the article noted, and 
went on to pay a heartfelt tribute to both the 
man and his accomplishments: "We can 
truthfully say that to no one man In all this 
territory are we more indebted for the 
present favorable conditions surrounding us 
than to this veteran pioneer and promoter of 
every good enterprise. He was specially 
known as a friend to the friendless and a 
helper to every stranger seeking to establish 
a home in this section. His intimate 
knowledge of the country enabled him to 
point his followers to the most favorable 
locations for homesteads and general 
improvement, and he was always ready to 
perform such service without any hope of 
reward."43 
 
The following day at noon, he was buried 
next to his wife in the McMullen Cemetery 
which he had established in 1881 and which 
today is located northeast of Clearwater on 
Coachman Road.44 
 
But even after his death, Capt. Jim’s legacy 
to his adopted land continued to live on 
through the considerable achievements of 
his children. Capt. Jim’s oldest son Bethel 
was the first dentist to practice in South 
Florida, establishing his practice in Tampa 



in 1871 and later near Clearwater in 1874. 
His practice at that time covered a vast area, 
from Monticello in Jefferson County south 
to Key West. He was also actively involved 
in the community, serving for a time as 
chairman of the Hillsborough County 
School Board. Bethel died in Clearwater on 
January 31, 1940 at the age of 94, and at the 
time was purportedly one of the oldest 
surviving soldiers from the Civil War in the 
Bay area.45 
 
The second son, Daniel Campbell 
McMullen, lived his entire life in the 
Clearwater area and was, according to 
Florida historian George Chapin, "a 
prominent representative of horticultural 
interests, having about four hundred acres of 
land on which he engaged in stock-raising, 
and also in the cultivation of oranges and 
vegetables. He made a specialty of handling 
vegetables which he shipped extensively and 
also supplied to the local hotels. His labors 
resulted in transforming unimproved tracts 
of land into fields or rich fertility and 
success attended him in his undertakings."46 
 
Another son, James Robert, also went into 
farming and planted citrus trees in the Bay 
View area. He also worked a big oyster bar 
in Old Tampa Bay, and for a time carried 
passengers and cargo in his sailing ship, the 
Carrie Bell (later renamed the Gypsy Maid). 
In 1889, he followed his father as 
Postmaster of Bay View, serving until 1897. 
One of his children, Nancy McMullen 
Meador, later became head of the Clan 
McMullen in North America and served on 
both the Pinellas County and Clearwater 
Historical Commissions. As the leading 
authority on the family’s history in Pinellas, 
she wrote scores of articles on the early 
McMullen pioneers, and was for many years 
until her death in 1984 an invaluable source 
of knowledge on local area history.47 
 

A fifth son, Birten Lee McMullen 
(affectionately known as "Uncle Birt" to his 
many friends in the area) attended the 
Sylvan Abbey schools and later went to 
Emory University in Atlanta. Like many in 
the family, he raised cattle and developed 
extensive citrus groves on the peninsula, 
most of then located near his home on 
Gulf-to-Bay Boulevard in Clearwater. He 
was also very actively involved in local 
politics, serving for over 20 years as a 
member of Pinellas County’s Democratic 
Executive Committee.48 
 
And finally, Capt. Jim’s youngest son 
George Ward McMullen also made his mark 
on the Pinellas community. Affectionately 
known as "Uncle Ward", he attended Smith 
Institute in Lexington, Kentucky and then 
returned to Pinellas to become a citrus 
grower. He also served as a Trustee of the 
Safety Harbor Elementary School from 1915 
to 1920, and as a Pinellas County 
Commissioner from 1919 to 1921. Twice 
married, with 10 children and one stepchild, 
he was a popular and much-loved figure in 
Pinellas County for many years, often being 
sought out for his wisdom, wry humor and 
fond memories of his days as a pioneer in 
the Pinellas wilderness. He died in 
Clearwater on June 1, 1966 at the age of 95, 
the last of the surviving children of Capt. 
Jim and Elizabeth.49 
 
Capt. Jim’s daughters also made significant 
contributions of their own, marrying into 
some of the most prominent families in 
Pinellas. The eldest surviving daughter, 
Sarah Jane "Sally" (or "Sallie") McMullen, 
first married Thomas B. Hackney, son of Dr. 
James Hackney, who was one of the earliest 
pioneers of St. Petersburg. After his death in 
1881, she married William A. Belcher of 
Largo, who was the widower of Sarah’s 
younger sister Mary. Belcher served in the 
1887 State Legislature from Hillsborough 



and was the first to introduce a bill in the 
Florida House of Representatives to separate 
Pinellas from Hillsborough — a proposal 
which eventually was adopted in 1911, 
creating Pinellas as Florida's 48th county. 
By Hackney, Sally had five children, and by 
Belcher, four. One of her children, W.L. 
Hackney, served as a Pinellas County 
Commissioner from 1925 to 1929.50 
 
Another daughter, Lucy Marian "Aunt 
Lucy" McMullen, married DeJoinville J. 
Booth, son of "Uncle Dick" Booth. The 
couple had eight children and lived for most 
of their married lives in Safety Harbor, 
where they became prominent and 
much-loved members of the local 
community. There, Aunt Lucy helped to 
organize the first missionary society in the 
Sylvan Abbey Methodist Church, and was a 
charter member of the Safety Harbor Order 
of the Eastern Star.51 
 
Today, with descendants in the local area 
numbering in the hundreds (if not 
thousands), the family of Capt. Jim 
McMullen continues to exert a powerful and 
lasting influence on Pinellas County and the 
Tampa Bay area, just as their forefather did 
so many years before. 
 
Sometimes, in the still half-light of early 
morning, one can almost see Capt. Jim 
sitting on the porch of his grand old log 
cabin, surveying all that has come after him. 
And we, who have come after him, owe him 
a great debt of gratitude, for our area would 
surely not be what it is today without the 
influence of his forceful character. Though 
not the first to come to the Pinellas 
peninsula, he was by far the most energetic 
in promoting its virtues and as a result made 
a lasting mark on the development of the 
area. And in a sense his legacy – the legacy 
of an independent man who only wanted 
something better for himself and his family 

– lives on in us today, and in our hopes and 
dreams for this magical place we call home. 
Quite a legacy for a man who had become a 
pioneer only by accident after wandering, 
sick and alone, into the land of his dreams.52 
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